# MICROELECTRONIC Circuit Design



Richard C. Jaeger Travis N. Blalock Benjamin J. Blalock









# MICROELECTRONIC

RICHARD C. JAEGER Auburn University

TRAVIS N. BLALOCK University of Virginia

**BENJAMIN J. BLALOCK** *University of Tennessee, Knoxville* 





#### MICROELECTRONIC CIRCUIT DESIGN

Published by McGraw Hill LLC, 1325 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10019. Copyright ©2023 by McGraw Hill LLC. All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America. No part of this publication may be reproduced or distributed in any form or by any means, or stored in a database or retrieval system, without the prior written consent of McGraw Hill LLC, including, but not limited to, in any network or other electronic storage or transmission, or broadcast for distance learning.

Some ancillaries, including electronic and print components, may not be available to customers outside the United States.

This book is printed on acid-free paper.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 LWI 27 26 25 24 23 22

ISBN 978-1-260-59785-1 MHID 1-260-59785-7

Cover Image: Maxim Marinkovskiy/Shutterstock

All credits appearing on page or at the end of the book are considered to be an extension of the copyright page.

The Internet addresses listed in the text were accurate at the time of publication. The inclusion of a website does not indicate an endorsement by the authors or McGraw Hill LLC, and McGraw Hill LLC does not guarantee the accuracy of the information presented at these sites.



# TO

To Joan, my loving wife and life-long partner -Richard C. Jaeger

In memory of my father, Professor Theron Vaughn Blalock, an inspiration to me and to the countless students whom he mentored both in electronic design and in life.

-Travis N. Blalock

To my family, for their love, support, and inspiration. -Benjamin J. Blalock



# **BRIEF CONTENTS**

Preface xx Chapter-by-Chapter Summary xxiii

#### PARTONE

## **SOLID-STATE ELECTRONICS AND DEVICES**

- 1 Introduction to Electronics 3
- 2 Solid-State Electronics 42
- 3 Solid-State Diodes and Diode Circuits 73
- 4 Bipolar Junction Transistors 146
- 5 Field-Effect Transistors 212

#### PARTTWO

#### **ANALOG ELECTRONICS**

- 6 Introduction to Amplifiers 313
- 7 The Transistor as an Amplifier 352
- 8 Transistor Amplifier Building Blocks 424
- 9 Amplifier Frequency Response 544

# PARTTHREE

# **OPERATIONAL AMPLIFIERS AND FEEDBACK**

- 10 Ideal Operational Amplifiers 649
- 11 Nonideal Operational Amplifiers and Feedback Amplifier Stability 683
- 12 Operational Amplifier Applications 781

- 13 Differential Amplifiers and Operational Amplifier Design 866
- 14 Analog Integrated Circuit Design Techniques 946
- 15 Transistor Feedback Amplifiers and Oscillators 1030

#### SUPPLEMENTAL CHAPTERS (E-Book Only) DIGITAL ELECTRONICS

- S6 Introduction to Digital Electronics S6-3
- S7 Complementary MOS (CMOS) Logic Design S7-1
- S8 MOS Memory Circuits S8-1
- S9 Bipolar Logic Circuits S9-1

#### **APPENDICES**

- A Standard Discrete Component Values 1109
- B Solid-State Device Models and SPICE Simulation Parameters 1112
- C Two-Port Review 1117
- D Physical Constants and Transistor Model Summary 1120

Index 1123



# CONTENTS

Preface xx Chapter-by-Chapter Summary xxiii

# PARTONE SOLID-STATE ELECTRONICS AND DEVICES 1

## CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION TO ELECTRONICS 3

- 1.1 A Brief History of Electronics: From Vacuum Tubes to Giga-Scale Integration 4
- 1.2 Classification of Electronic Signals 8
  - 1.2.1 Digital Signals 8
  - 1.2.2 Analog Signals 9
  - 1.2.3 A/D and D/A Converters—Bridging the Analog and Digital Domains 10
- 1.3 Notational Conventions 12
- 1.4 Problem-Solving Approach 13
- 1.5 Important Concepts from Circuit Theory 15
  - 1.5.1 Voltage and Current Division 15
  - 1.5.2 Thévenin and Norton Circuit Representations 16
- 1.6 Frequency Spectrum of Electronic Signals 21
- 1.7 Amplifiers 22
  - 1.7.1 Ideal Operational Amplifiers 23
  - 1.7.2 Amplifier Frequency Response 26
- 1.8 Element Variations in Circuit Design 26
  - 1.8.1 Mathematical Modeling of Tolerances 27
  - 1.8.2 Worst-Case Analysis 27
  - 1.8.3 Monte Carlo Analysis 29
  - 1.8.4 Temperature Coefficients 32
- 1.9 Numeric Precision 34 Summary 34 Key Terms 35 References 36 Additional Reading 36 Problems 37

# CHAPTER 2 SOLID-STATE ELECTRONICS 42

2.1 Solid-State Electronic Materials 44

- 2.2 Covalent Bond Model 45
- 2.3 Drift Currents and Mobility in Semiconductors 48
  - 2.3.1 Drift Currents 48
  - 2.3.2 Mobility 49
  - 2.3.3 Velocity Saturation 49
- 2.4 Resistivity of Intrinsic Silicon 50
- 2.5 Impurities in Semiconductors 51
   2.5.1 Donor Impurities in Silicon 52
   2.5.2 Acceptor Impurities in Silicon 52
  - 2.5.2 Acceptor impunities in Silicon 52
- 2.6 Electron and Hole Concentrations in Doped Semiconductors 52
  - 2.6.1 *n*-Type Material ( $N_D > N_A$ ) 53
  - 2.6.2 p-Type Material ( $N_A > N_D$ ) 54
- 2.7 Mobility and Resistivity in Doped Semiconductors 55
- 2.8 Diffusion Currents 59
- 2.9 Total Current 60
- 2.10 Energy Band Model 61
  - 2.10.1 Electron—Hole Pair Generation in an Intrinsic Semiconductor 61
  - 2.10.2 Energy Band Model for a Doped Semiconductor 62
  - 2.10.3 Compensated Semiconductors 62
- 2.11 Overview of Integrated Circuit Fabrication 64 Summary 67 Key Terms 68 Additional Reading 69 Problems 69

#### CHAPTER 3

#### SOLID-STATE DIODES AND DIODE CIRCUITS 73

- 3.1 The pn Junction Diode 74
  - 3.1.1 *pn* Junction Electrostatics 74
  - 3.1.2 Internal Diode Currents 78
- 3.2 The *i-v* Characteristics of the Diode 79
- 3.3 The Diode Equation: A Mathematical Model for the Diode 81
- 3.4 Diode Characteristics Under Reverse, Zero, and Forward Bias 84
  - 3.4.1 Reverse Bias 84
  - 3.4.2 Zero Bias 84
  - 3.4.3 Forward Bias 85

3.5 3.6	Diode Diodes 3.6.1 3.6.2 3.6.3	Temperature Coefficient 87 Under Reverse Bias 87 Saturation Current in Real Diodes 88 Reverse Breakdown 90 Diode Model for the Breakdown		Summo Key Tel Refere Additic Proble	ary 133 rms 134 nce 135 onal Read ms 135
27	on lun	Region 91	0114.5		
5.7	371	Reverse Bias 91	СНАР	IER 4	
	3.7.2	Forward Bias 92	BIPOI	LAR JUN	ICTION
3.8	Schott	ky Barrier Diode 93	4.1	Physica	al Structu
3.9	SPICE	Model and Layout for a Diode 93	4.2	The Tra	ansport N
	3.9.1	Diode Layout 95		4.2.1	Forwar
3.10	Diode	Circuit Analysis 96		4.2.2	Revers
	3.10.1	Load-Line Analysis 97		4.2.3	Comple
	3.10.2	Analysis Using the Mathematical Model			for Arb
		for the Diode 98	4.3	The pn	p Transis
	3.10.3	The Ideal Diode Model 102	4.4	Equiva	lent Circ
	3.10.4	Constant Voltage Drop Model 104		Transp	ort Mode
	3.10.5	Model Comparison and Discussion 105		4.4.1	Anothe
3.11	Multipl	e-Diode Circuits 106			Region
3.12	Analys	is of Diodes Operating in the	4.5	The <i>i-v</i>	Charact
	Breako	lown Region 109		Transis	tor 157
	3.12.1	Load-Line Analysis 109		4.5.1	Output
	3.12.2	Analysis with the Piecewise		4.5.2	Transfe
	0.40.0	Linear Model 109	4.6	The Op	perating
	3.12.3	Voltage Regulation 110		Iransis	tor 159
	3.12.4	Analysis including Zener	4.7	Iransp	ort Mode
	2425	Resistance 111		4.7.1	Simplifi
2 4 2	J. I Z.J	Life and Load Regulation 112		470	Region
5.15	2 1 2 1	Half-Wave Pectifier with Pesistor		4.7.2	
	5.15.1	load 113		472	Diodoc
	3132	Rectifier Filter Capacitor 114		4.7.5	Simplifi
	3.13.3	Half-Wave Rectifier with $RC$ load 115		4.7.4	Region
	3.13.4	Ripple Voltage and Conduction		475	Modeli
		Interval 116		4.7.5	Region
	3.13.5	Diode Current 118	4.8	Nonide	al Beha
	3.13.6	Surge Current 119		Transis	tor 175
	3.13.7	Peak-Inverse-Voltage (PIV) Rating 120		4.8.1	Junctio
	3.13.8	Diode Power Dissipation 121		4.8.2	Minorit
	3.13.9	Half-Wave Rectifier with Negative			Base R
		Output Voltage 121		4.8.3	Base T
3.14	Full-Wa	ave Rectifier Circuits 123		4.8.4	Diffusio
	3.14.1	Full-Wave Rectifier with Negative		4.8.5	Freque
		Output Voltage 124			Commo
3.15	Full-Wa	ave Bridge Rectification 124		4.8.6	The Ea
3.16	Rectifie	er Comparison and Design Tradeoffs 125		4.8.7	Modeli
3.17	Dynam	ic Switching Behavior of the Diode 129		4.8.8	Origin
3.18	Photo	Diodes, Solar Cells, and	4.9	Iransc	onductar
	Light-E	Dete Diodes and Photodetectors (22	4.10	Bipolar	Technol
	3.18.1	Privice Diodes and Photodelectors 130		4.10.1	Qualita
	3.10.2	Light-Emitting Diodes (LEDs) 132		4.10.2	Spice N
	5.10.5	Light Emitting Diodes (LEDS) 152		4.10.3	Transic
					11011515

erei	псе	135	5			
ditio	nal	Rea	ding	135		
bler	ns	135				
4						
IUN	СТ	ION	TRA	NSIS	TOF	25
				e		

- cal Structure of the Bipolar Transistor 147
- ransport Model for the npn Transistor 148
  - Forward Characteristics 149
  - **Reverse Characteristics 151**
  - **Complete Transport Model Equations** for Arbitrary Bias Conditions 152

146

- np Transistor 154
- alent Circuit Representations for the port Models 156
  - Another Look at the Forward-Active Region 157
- v Characteristics of the Bipolar stor 157
  - Output Characteristics 157
  - Transfer Characteristics 158
- perating Regions of the Bipolar istor 159
- port Model Simplifications 160
  - Simplified Model for the Cutoff Region 160
  - Model Simplifications for the Forward-Active Region 162
  - Diodes in Bipolar Integrated Circuits 168
  - Simplified Model for the Reverse-Active Region 169
  - Modeling Operation in the Saturation Region 172
- eal Behavior of the Bipolar
  - stor 175
    - Junction Breakdown Voltages 175
    - Minority-Carrier Transport in the Base Region 175
    - Base Transit Time 176
    - Diffusion Capacitance 178
  - Frequency Dependence of the Common-Emitter Current Gain 179
    - The Early Effect and Early Voltage 179
  - Modeling the Early Effect 180
  - Origin of the Early Effect 180
- conductance 181
- ar Technology and SPICE Model 182
  - Qualitative Description 182
  - Spice Model Equations 183
    - **High-Performance Bipolar** Transistors 185

ix

- 4.11 Practical Bias Circuits for the BJT 185
  - 4.11.1 Four-Resistor Bias Network 187
  - 4.11.2 Design Objectives for the Four-Resistor Bias Network 189
  - 4.11.3 Iterative Analysis of the Four-Resistor Bias Circuit 193
- 4.12 Tolerances in Bias Circuits 194
  4.12.1 Worst-Case Analysis 194
  4.12.2 Monte Carlo Analysis 196
  Summary 199
  Key Terms 201
  References 202
  Additional Readings 202
  Problems 202

#### CHAPTER 5

#### FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTORS 212

- 5.1 Characteristics of the MOS Capacitor 214
  - 5.1.1 Accumulation Region 214
  - 5.1.2 Depletion Region 214
  - 5.1.3 Inversion Region 215
- 5.2 The NMOS Transistor 216
  - 5.2.1 Qualitative *i-v* Behavior of the NMOS Transistor 217
  - 5.2.2 Triode Region Characteristics of the NMOS Transistor 218
  - 5.2.3 On Resistance 220
  - 5.2.4 Transconductance 222
  - 5.2.5 Saturation of the *i-v* Characteristics 222
  - 5.2.6 Mathematical Model in the Saturation
  - (Pinch-Off) Region 224 5.2.7 Transconductance in Saturation 225
  - 5.2.8 Transconductance Efficiency in Saturation 225
  - 5.2.9 Channel-Length Modulation 226
  - 5.2.10 Transfer Characteristics and Depletion-Mode MOSFETs 227
  - 5.2.11 Body Effect or Substrate Sensitivity 228
- 5.3 PMOS Transistors 230
- 5.4 MOSFET Circuit Symbols 232
- 5.5 MOS Transistor Symmetry 233
  - 5.5.1 The One-Transistor Dram Cell 233
  - 5.5.2 Data Storage in the 1-T Cell 234
  - 5.5.3 Reading Data from the 1-T Cell 235
- 5.6 CMOS Technology 238
  - 5.6.1 CMOS Voltage Transfer Characteristics 240
- 5.7 CMOS Latchup 242
- 5.8 Capacitances in MOS Transistors 244
  - 5.8.1 NMOS Transistor Capacitances in the Triode Region 244

- 5.8.2 Capacitances in the Saturation Region 247
- 5.8.3 Capacitances in Cutoff 247
- 5.9 MOSFET Modeling in SPICE 247
- 5.10 MOS Transistor Scaling 249
  - 5.10.1 Drain Current 250
    - 5.10.2 Gate Capacitance 250
    - 5.10.3 Circuit and Power Densities 250
    - 5.10.4 Power-Delay Product 251
    - 5.10.5 Cutoff Frequency 251
    - 5.10.6 High Field Limitations 252
    - 5.10.7 The Unified MOS Transistor Model, Including High Field Limitations 253
    - 5.10.8 Subthreshold Conduction 254
- 5.11 All Region Modeling 255
  - 5.11.1 Interpolation Model 255
  - 5.11.2 Interpolation Model in the Saturation Region 255
  - 5.11.3 Transconductance Efficiency 256
- 5.12 MOS Transistor Fabrication and Layout Design Rules 258
  - 5.12.1 Minimum Feature Size and Alignment Tolerance 258
  - 5.12.2 MOS Transistor Layout 259
  - 5.12.3 CMOS Inverter Layout 261
- 5.13 Advanced CMOS Technologies 262
- 5.14 Biasing the NMOS Field-Effect Transistor 265
  - 5.14.1 Why Do We Need Bias? 265
  - 5.14.2 Four-Resistor Biasing 267
  - 5.14.3 Constant Gate-Source Voltage Bias 271
  - 5.14.4 Graphical Analysis for the Q-Point 271
  - 5.14.5 Analysis Including Body Effect 272
  - 5.14.6 Analysis Using the Unified Model 274
  - 5.14.7 NMOS Circuit Analysis Comparisons 276
  - 5.14.8 Two-Resistor Bias 276
- 5.15 Biasing the PMOS Field-Effect Transistor 276
- 5.16 Biasing the CMOS Inverter as an Amplifier 279
- 5.17 The CMOS Transmission Gate 280
- 5.18 The Junction Field-Effect Transistor (JFET) 282
  - 5.18.1 The JFET with Bias Applied 283
  - 5.18.2 JFET Channel with Drain-Source Bias 283
  - 5.18.3 *n*-Channel JFET *i-v* Characteristics 285
  - 5.18.4 The *p*-Channel JFET 286
  - 5.18.5 Circuit Symbols and JFET Model Summary 286
  - 5.18.6 JFET Capacitances 287
- 5.19 JFET Modeling in SPICE 288
- 5.20 Biasing the JFET and Depletion-Mode MOSFET 289 Summary 291
  - Key Terms 293
    - References 294
    - Additional Readings 295
    - Problems 296

# PARTTWO ANALOG ELECTRONICS 311

#### CHAPTER 6

х

#### **INTRODUCTION TO AMPLIFIERS** 313

Amplification 315			
6.2.1	Voltage Gain 316		
6.2.2	Current Gain 317		
6.2.3	Power Gain 317		
6.2.4	Location of the Amplifier 317		
6.2.5	The Decibel Scale 318		
Two-P	ort Models for Amplifiers 321		
6.3.1	The g-Parameters 321		
6.4 Mismatched Source and Load			
Resista	ances 325		
The D	fferential Amplifier 328		
6.5.1	Differential Amplifier Voltage Transfer		
	Characteristic 329		
6.5.2	Voltage Gain 329		
Distortion in Amplifiers 331			
Differential Amplifier Model 332			
Amplif	ier Frequency Response 334		
6.8.1	Bode Plots 334		
6.8.2	The Low-Pass Amplifier 335		
6.8.3	The High-Pass Amplifier 338		
6.8.4	Band-Pass Amplifiers 341		
Summ	ary 344		
Key Terms 345			
References 345			
Additional Reading 345			
	Amplif 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 Two-Pe 6.3.1 Misma Resista The Di 6.5.1 6.5.2 Distort Distort Distort 0.8.1 6.8.2 6.8.3 6.8.4 Summ Key Te Refere Additio		

6.1 An Example of an Analog Electronic System 314

#### CHAPTER 7

## THE TRANSISTOR AS AN AMPLIFIER 352

Problems 345

- 7.1 The Transistor as an Amplifier 353
  - 7.1.1 The BJT Amplifier 354
  - 7.1.2 The MOSFET Amplifier 355
- 7.2 Coupling and Bypass Capacitors 356
- 7.3 Circuit Analysis Using dc and ac Equivalent Circuits 358
- 7.3.1 Menu for dc and ac Analysis 358 7.4 Introduction to Small-Signal Modeling 362
  - Introduction to Small-Signal Modeling 362 7.4.1 Graphical Interpretation of the Small-Signal Behavior of the Diode 362
  - 7.4.2 Small-Signal Modeling of the Diode 363
- 7.5 Small-Signal Models for Bipolar
  - Junction Transistors 365
  - 7.5.1 The Hybrid-Pi Model 367
  - 7.5.2 Graphical Interpretation of the Transconductance 368

- 7.5.3 Small-Signal Current Gain 368
- 7.5.4 The Intrinsic Voltage Gain of the BJT 369
- 7.5.5 Equivalent Forms of the Small-Signal Model 370
- 7.5.6 Simplified Hybrid-Pi Model 371
- 7.5.7 Definition of a Small Signal for the Bipolar Transistor 371
- 7.5.8 Small-Signal Model for the *pnp* Transistor 373
- 7.5.9 ac Analysis versus Transient Analysis in SPICE 374
- 7.6 The Common-Emitter (C-E) Amplifier 374
  - 7.6.1 Terminal Voltage Gain 374
  - 7.6.2 Input Resistance 376
  - 7.6.3 Signal Source Voltage Gain 376
- 7.7 Important Limits and Model Simplifications 376
  - 7.7.1 A Design Guide for the Common-Emitter Amplifier 377
  - 7.7.2 Upper Bound on the Common-Emitter Gain 378
  - 7.7.3 Small-Signal Limit for the Common-Emitter Amplifier 378
- 7.8 Small-Signal Models for Field-Effect Transistors 381
  - 7.8.1 Small-Signal Model for the MOSFET 381
  - 7.8.2 Intrinsic Voltage Gain of the MOSFET 383
  - 7.8.3 Definition of Small-Signal Operation for the MOSFET 384
  - 7.8.4 Body Effect in the Four-Terminal MOSFET 385
  - 7.8.5 Small-Signal Model for the PMOS Transistor 386
  - 7.8.6 Small-Signal Modeling for MOS Transistors in Weak Inversion 387
  - 7.8.7 Small-Signal Model for the Junction Field-Effect Transistor 387
- 7.9 Summary and Comparison of the Small-Signal Models of the BJT and FET 388
- 7.10 The Common-Source (C-S) Amplifier 391
  - 7.10.1 Common-Source Terminal Voltage Gain 392
    - 7.10.2 Signal Source Voltage Gain for the Common-Source Amplifier 392
    - 7.10.3 A Design Guide for the Common-Source Amplifier 393
    - 7.10.4 Small-Signal Limit for the Common-Source Amplifier 394
    - 7.10.5 Input Resistances of the Common-Emitter and Common-Source Amplifiers 396

xi

- 7.10.6 Common-Emitter and Common-Source Output Resistances 398
- 7.10.7 Comparison of the Three Amplifier Examples 404
- 7.11 Common-Emitter and Common-Source Amplifier Summary 405
  - 7.11.1 Guidelines for Neglecting the Transistor Output Resistance 405
- 7.12 Amplifier Power and Signal Range 406
  - 7.12.1 Power Dissipation 406 7.12.2 Signal Range 407 Summary 410 Key Terms 411 Reference 411 Problems 412

#### CHAPTER 8

#### TRANSISTOR AMPLIFIER BUILDING BLOCKS 424

- 8.1 Amplifier Classification 425
  - 8.1.1 Signal Injection and Extraction— The BJT 425
  - 8.1.2 Signal Injection and Extraction— The FET 426
  - 8.1.3 Common-Emitter (C-E) and Common-Source (C-S) Amplifiers 427
  - 8.1.4 Common-Collector (C-C) and Common-Drain (C-D) Topologies 428
  - 8.1.5 Common-Base (C-B) and Common-Gate (C-G) Amplifiers 430
  - 8.1.6 Small-Signal Model Review 431
- 8.2 Inverting Amplifiers—Common-Emitter
  - and Common-Source Circuits 431
  - 8.2.1 The Common-Emitter (C-E) Amplifier 432
  - 8.2.2 Common-Emitter Example Comparison 444
  - 8.2.3 The Common-Source Amplifier 445
  - 8.2.4 Small-Signal Limit for the Common-Source Amplifier 448
  - 8.2.5 Common-Emitter and Common-Source Amplifier Characteristics 452
  - 8.2.6 C-E/C-S Amplifier Summary 453
  - 8.2.7 Equivalent Transistor Representation of the Generalized C-E/C-S Transistor 453
- 8.3 Follower Circuits—Common-Collector
  - and Common-Drain Amplifiers 454
  - 8.3.1 Terminal Voltage Gain 456
  - 8.3.2 Input Resistance 457
  - 8.3.3 Signal Source Voltage Gain 457
  - 8.3.4 Follower Signal Range 458
  - 8.3.5 Follower Output Resistance 458
  - 8.3.6 Current Gain 460
  - 8.3.7 C-C/C-D Amplifier Summary 460

- 8.4 Noninverting Amplifiers—Common-Base and Common-Gate Circuits 464
  - 8.4.1 Terminal Voltage Gain and Input Resistance 466
  - 8.4.2 Signal Source Voltage Gain 467
  - 8.4.3 Input Signal Range 468
  - 8.4.4 Resistance at the Collector and Drain Terminals 468
  - 8.4.5 Current Gain 469
  - 8.4.6 Overall Input and Output Resistances for the Noninverting Amplifiers 469
  - 8.4.7 C-B/C-G Amplifier Summary 473
- 8.5 Amplifier Prototype Review and Comparison 474
  - 8.5.1 The BJT Amplifiers 474
  - 8.5.2 The FET Amplifiers 476
- 8.6 Common-Source Amplifiers Using
  - MOS Transistor Loads 479
    - 8.6.1 Voltage Gain Estimate 479
    - 8.6.2 Detailed Analysis 480
    - 8.6.3 Alternative Loads 481
    - 8.6.4 Input and Output Resistances 482
- 8.7 Coupling and Bypass Capacitor Design 485
  - 8.7.1 Common-Emitter and Common-Source Amplifiers 485
  - 8.7.2 Common-Collector and Common-Drain Amplifiers 489
  - 8.7.3 Common-Base and Common-Gate Amplifiers 492
  - 8.7.4 Setting Lower Cutoff Frequency  $f_L$  495
- 8.8 Amplifier Design Examples 496
  - 8.8.1 Monte Carlo Evaluation of the Common-Base Amplifier Design 505
- 8.9 Multistage ac-Coupled Amplifiers 510
  - 8.9.1 A Three-Stage ac-Coupled Amplifier 511
  - 8.9.2 Voltage Gain 513
  - 8.9.3 Input Resistance 514
  - 8.9.4 Signal Source Voltage Gain 514
  - 8.9.5 Output Resistance 515
  - 8.9.6 Current and Power Gain 516
  - 8.9.7 Input Signal Range 516
  - 8.9.8 Estimating the Lower Cutoff Frequency of the Multistage Amplifier 520
- 8.10 Introduction to dc-Coupled
  - Amplifiers 520
    - 8.10.1 A dc-Coupled Three-Stage Amplifier 522
    - 8.10.2 Two Transistor dc-Coupled Amplifiers 523

Summary 525

Key Terms 527

Additional Reading 527

Problems 527



# CHAPTER 9 AMPLIFIER FREQUENCY RESPONSE 544 9.1 Amplifier Frequency Response 545 9.1.1 Low-Frequency Response 546 9.1.2 Estimating $\omega_L$ in the Absence of a

- Dominant Pole 546 9.1.3 High-Frequency Response 549
- 9.1.4 Estimating  $\omega_{\mu}$  in the Absence of a Dominant Pole 549
- 9.2 Direct Determination of the Low-Frequency Poles and Zeros—The Common-Source Amplifier 550
- 9.3 Estimation of  $\omega_L$  Using the Short-Circuit Time-Constant Method 555
  - 9.3.1 Estimate of  $\omega_L$  for the Common-Emitter Amplifier 556
  - 9.3.2 Estimate of  $\omega_L$  for the Common-Source Amplifier 560
  - 9.3.3 Estimate of  $\omega_L$  for the Common-Base Amplifier 561
  - 9.3.4 Estimate of  $\omega_L$  for the Common-Gate Amplifier 562
  - 9.3.5 Estimate of  $\omega_L$  for the Common-Collector Amplifier 563
  - 9.3.6 Estimate of  $\omega_L$  for the Common-Drain Amplifier 563
- 9.4 Transistor Models at High Frequencies 564
  - 9.4.1 Frequency-Dependent Hybrid-Pi Model for the Bipolar Transistor 564
  - 9.4.2 Modeling  $C_{\pi}$  and  $C_{\mu}$  in SPICE 565
  - 9.4.3 Unity-Gain Frequency  $f_{T}$  565
  - 9.4.4 High-Frequency Model for the FET 568
  - 9.4.5 Modeling  $C_{GS}$  and  $C_{GD}$  in SPICE 569
  - 9.4.6 Channel Length Dependence of  $f_T$  569
  - 9.4.7 Limitations of the High-Frequency Models 571
- 9.5 Base and Gate Resistances in the Small-Signal Models 571
   9.5.1 Effect of Base and Gate Resi
  - 9.5.1Effect of Base and Gate Resistances on<br/>Midband Amplifiers9.12572
- 9.6 High-Frequency Common-Emitter and Common-Source Amplifier Analysis 573
  - 9.6.1 The Miller Effect 575
  - 9.6.2 Common-Emitter and Common-Source Amplifier High-Frequency Response 577
  - 9.6.3 Direct Analysis of the Common-Emitter Transfer Characteristic 579
  - 9.6.4 Poles of the Common-Emitter Amplifier 580

- 9.6.5 Dominant Pole for the Common-Source Amplifier 583
- 9.6.6 Estimation of  $\omega_H$  Using the Open-Circuit Time-Constant Method 585
- 9.6.7 Common-Source Amplifier with Source Degeneration Resistance 586
- 9.6.8 Poles of the Common-Emitter with Emitter Degeneration Resistance 588
- 9.7 Common-Base and Common-Gate Amplifier High-Frequency Response 591
- 9.8 Common-Collector and Common-Drain Amplifier High-Frequency Response 593
- 9.9 Single-Stage Amplifier High-Frequency Response Summary 596
  - 9.9.1 Amplifier Gain-Bandwidth (GBW) Limitations 596
- 9.10 Frequency Response of Multistage Amplifiers 597
  - 9.10.1 Differential Amplifier 597
  - 9.10.2 The Common-Collector/ Common-Base Cascade 599
  - 9.10.3 High-Frequency Response of the Cascode Amplifier 600
  - 9.10.4 Cutoff Frequency for the Current Mirror 601
  - 9.10.5 Three-Stage Amplifier Example 602
- 9.11 Introduction to Radio Frequency
  - Circuits 610
    - 9.11.1 Radio Frequency Amplifiers 611
    - 9.11.2 The Shunt-Peaked Amplifier 611
    - 9.11.3 Single-Tuned Amplifier 613
    - 9.11.4 Use of a Tapped Inductor—the Auto Transformer 615
    - 9.11.5 Multiple Tuned Circuits—Synchronous and Stagger Tuning 617
    - 9.11.6 Common-Source Amplifier with Inductive Degeneration 618
    - Mixers and Balanced Modulators 622
    - 9.12.1 Introduction to Mixer Operation 622
    - 9.12.2 A Single-Balanced Mixer 623
    - 9.12.3 The Differential Pair as a Single-Balanced Mixer 624
    - 9.12.4 A Double-Balanced Mixer 626
    - 9.12.5 The Jones Mixer—a Double-Balanced Mixer/Modulator 628
    - Summary 632
    - Key Terms 633
    - References 633
    - Problems 634

xiii

# PARTTHREE OPERATIONAL AMPLIFIERS AND FEEDBACK 647

#### CHAPTER 10

#### **IDEAL OPERATIONAL AMPLIFIERS** 649

- 10.1 Ideal Differential and Operational Amplifiers 650
  - 10.1.1 Assumptions for Ideal Operational Amplifier Analysis 651
- 10.2 Analysis of Circuits Containing Ideal Operational Amplifiers 651
  - 10.2.1 The Inverting Amplifier 652
  - 10.2.2 The Transresistance Amplifier—a Current-to-Voltage Converter 655
  - 10.2.3 The Noninverting Amplifier 657
  - 10.2.4 The Unity-Gain Buffer, or Voltage Follower 659
  - 10.2.5 The Summing Amplifier 662
  - 10.2.6 The Difference Amplifier 664
- 10.3 Frequency Dependent Feedback 666
  - 10.3.1 An Active Low-Pass Filter 667
  - 10.3.2 An Active High-Pass Filter 670
  - 10.3.3 The Integrator 671
  - 10.3.4 The Differentiator 675
  - Summary 675
  - Key Terms 676
  - References 677
  - Additional Reading 677
  - Problems 677

#### CHAPTER 11

## NONIDEAL OPERATIONAL AMPLIFIERS AND FEEDBACK AMPLIFIER STABILITY 683

- 11.1 Classic Feedback Systems 684
  - 11.1.1 Closed-Loop Gain Analysis 68511.1.2 Gain Error 685
- 11.2 Analysis of Circuits Containing Nonideal Operational Amplifiers 686
  - 11.2.1 Finite Open-Loop Gain 686
  - 11.2.2 Nonzero Output Resistance 689
  - 11.2.3 Finite Input Resistance 693
  - 11.2.4 Summary of Nonideal Inverting and Noninverting Amplifiers 697
- 11.3 Series and Shunt Feedback Circuits 698
  - 11.3.1 Feedback Amplifier Categories 698 11.3.2 Voltage Amplifiers—Series-Shunt
    - Feedback 699
  - 11.3.3 Transimpedance Amplifiers—Shunt-Shunt Feedback 699

- 11.3.4 Current Amplifiers—Shunt-Series Feedback 699
- 11.3.5 Transconductance Amplifiers— Series-Series Feedback 699
- 11.4 Unified Approach to Feedback Amplifier Gain Calculations 699
  - 11.4.1 Closed-Loop Gain Analysis 700
  - 11.4.2 Resistance Calculations Using Blackman's Theorem 700
- 11.5 Series-Shunt Feedback—Voltage Amplifiers 700
  - 11.5.1 Closed-Loop Gain Calculation 701
  - 11.5.2 Input Resistance Calculations 701
  - 11.5.3 Output Resistance Calculations 702
  - 11.5.4 Series-Shunt Feedback Amplifier Summary 703
- 11.6 Shunt-Shunt Feedback—Transresistance Amplifiers 707
  - 11.6.1 Closed-Loop Gain Calculation 707
  - 11.6.2 Input Resistance Calculations 708
  - 11.6.3 Output Resistance Calculations 708
  - 11.6.4 Shunt-Shunt Feedback Amplifier Summary 709
- 11.7 Series-Series Feedback—Transconductance Amplifiers 712
  - 11.7.1 Closed-Loop Gain Calculation 713
  - 11.7.2 Input Resistance Calculation 713
  - 11.7.3 Output Resistance Calculation 714
  - 11.7.4 Series-Series Feedback Amplifier Summary 714
- 11.8 Shunt-Series Feedback—Current Amplifiers 716
  - 11.8.1 Closed-Loop Gain Calculation 717
  - 11.8.2 Input Resistance Calculation 717
  - 11.8.3 Output Resistance Calculation 71811.8.4 Shunt-Series Feedback Amplifier
  - Summary 718
- 11.9 Finding the Loop Gain Using Successive Voltage and Current Injection 72111.9.1 Simplifications 724
- 11.10 Distortion Reduction through the Use of Feedback 724
- 11.11 DC Error Sources and Output Range Limitations 725
  - 11.11.1 Input-Offset Voltage 725
  - 11.11.2 Offset-Voltage Adjustment 727
  - 11.11.3 Input-Bias and Offset Currents 728
  - 11.11.4 Output Voltage and
    - Current Limits 730
- 11.12 Common-Mode Rejection and Input Resistance 733
  - 11.12.1 Finite Common-Mode Rejection Ratio 733
  - 11.12.2 Why Is CMRR Important? 734
  - 11.12.3 Voltage-Follower Gain Error Due to CMRR 737

	11.12.4 Common-Mode Input Resistance 740	
	11.12.5 An Alternate Interpretation of CMRR 741	
	11.12.6 Power Supply Rejection Ratio 741	
1.13	Frequency Response and Bandwidth of	
	Operational Amplifiers 743	
	11.13.1 Frequency Response of the	
	Noninverting Amplifier 745	
	11.13.2 Inverting Amplifier Frequency	
	Response 748	
	11.13.3 Using Feedback to Control Frequency	
	Response 750	
	11.13.4 Large-Signal Limitations—Slew Rate	
	and Full-Power Bandwidth 752	
	11.13.5 Macro Model for Operational Amplifier	
	Frequency Response 753	
	11.13.6 Complete Op Amp Macro Models	
	in SPICE 754	
	11.13.7 Examples of Commercial General-	
	Purpose Operational Amplifiers 754	
1.14	Stability of Feedback Amplifiers 755	
	11.14.1 The Nyquist Plot 755	
	11.14.2 First-Order Systems 756	
	11.14.3 Second-Order Systems and Phase	
	Margin 757	
	11.14.4 Step Response and Phase Margin 758	
	11.14.5 Third-Order Systems and Gain	
	Margin 761	
	11.14.6 Determining Stability from the Bode	
	Plot 762	
	Summary 766	
	Key Terms 768	
	References 769	

Problems 769

#### CHAPTER 12

#### **OPERATIONAL AMPLIFIER APPLICATIONS** 781

- 12.1 Cascaded Amplifiers 782
  - 12.1.1 Two-Port Representations 782
  - 12.1.2 Amplifier Terminology Review 784
  - 12.1.3 Frequency Response of Cascaded Amplifiers 787
- 12.2 The Instrumentation Amplifier 795
- 12.3 Active Filters 798
  - 12.3.1 Low-Pass Filter 798
    - 12.3.2 A High-Pass Filter with Gain 802
    - 12.3.3 Band-Pass Filter 804
    - 12.3.4 Sensitivity 806
  - 12.3.5 Magnitude and Frequency Scaling 807
- 12.4 Switched-Capacitor Circuits 808
  - 12.4.1 A Switched-Capacitor Integrator 808
  - 12.4.2 Noninverting SC Integrator 810
  - 12.4.3 Switched-Capacitor Filters 812

- 12.5 Digital-to-Analog Conversion 815
  - 12.5.1 D/A Converter Fundamentals 815
  - 12.5.2 D/A Converter Errors 816
  - 12.5.3 Digital-to-Analog Converter Circuits 818
- 12.6 Analog-to-Digital Conversion 822
  - 12.6.1 A/D Converter Fundamentals 823
  - 12.6.2 Analog-to-Digital Converter Errors 824
  - 12.6.3 Basic A/D Conversion Techniques 825
- 12.7 Oscillators 836
  - 12.7.1 The Barkhausen Criteria for Oscillation 836
  - 12.7.2 Oscillators Employing Frequency-Selective *RC* Networks 837
- 12.8 Nonlinear Circuit Applications 841
  - 12.8.1 A Precision Half-Wave Rectifier 841
  - 12.8.2 Nonsaturating Precision-Rectifier Circuit 842
- 12.9 Circuits Using Positive Feedback 844
  - 12.9.1 The Comparator and Schmitt Trigger 844
  - 12.9.2 The Astable Multivibrator 846
  - 12.9.3 The Monostable Multivibrator or One Shot 847

Summary 851 Key Terms 853

Additional Reading 854 Problems 854

#### CHAPTER 13

## DIFFERENTIAL AMPLIFIERS AND OPERATIONAL AMPLIFIER DESIGN 866

- 13.1 Differential Amplifiers 867
  - 13.1.1 Bipolar and MOS Differential Amplifiers 867
  - 13.1.2 dc Analysis of the Bipolar Differential Amplifier 868
  - 13.1.3 Transfer Characteristic for the Bipolar Differential Amplifier 870
  - 13.1.4 ac Analysis of the Bipolar Differential Amplifier 871
  - 13.1.5 Differential-Mode Gain and Input and Output Resistances 872
  - 13.1.6 Common-Mode Gain and Input Resistance 874
  - 13.1.7 Common-Mode Rejection Ratio (CMRR) 876
  - 13.1.8 Analysis Using Differential- and Common-Mode Half-Circuits 877
  - 13.1.9 Biasing with Electronic Current Sources 880
  - 13.1.10 Modeling the Electronic Current Source in SPICE 881

XV

- 14.2.4 Altering the BJT Current Mirror Ratio 954
  - Multiple Current Sources 955 14.2.5
    - 14.2.6 Buffered Current Mirror 956
    - Output Resistance of the Current 14.2.7 Mirrors 957
    - 14.2.8 Two-Port Model for the Current Mirror 958
    - 14.2.9 The Widlar Current Source 960
    - 14.2.10 The MOS Version of the Widlar Source 963
  - 14.2.11 MOS Widlar Source in Weak Inversion 963
  - 14.3 High-Output-Resistance Current Mirrors 964
    - 14.3.1 The Wilson Current Sources 965
    - 14.3.2 Output Resistance of the Wilson Source 966
    - 14.3.3 Cascode Current Sources 967
    - 14.3.4 Output Resistance of the Cascode Sources 968
    - 14.3.5 Regulated Cascode Current Source 969
    - 14.3.6 Current Mirror Summary 970
  - 14.4 Reference Current Generation 973
  - 14.5 Supply-Independent Biasing 974
    - 14.5.1 A V<sub>RE</sub>-Based Reference 974
      - 14.5.2 The Widlar Source 974
      - 14.5.3 Power-Supply-Independent Bias Cell 975
      - 14.5.4 A Supply-Independent MOS Reference Cell 976
  - 14.6 The Bandgap Reference 978
  - 14.7 The Current Mirror as an Active Load 982
    - 14.7.1 CMOS Differential Amplifier with Active Load 982
    - 14.7.2 Bipolar Differential Amplifier with Active Load 989
  - Active Loads in Operational Amplifiers 993 14.8
    - 14.8.1 CMOS Op-Amp Voltage Gain 993
      - 14.8.2 dc Design Considerations 994
      - 14.8.3 Bipolar Operational Amplifiers 996
      - 14.8.4 Input Stage Breakdown 997
  - 14.9 The µA741 Operational Amplifier 998
    - 14.9.1 Overall Circuit Operation 998
    - 14.9.2 Bias Circuitry 999
    - 14.9.3 dc Analysis of the 741 Input Stage 1000
    - 14.9.4 ac Analysis of the 741 Input Stage 1003
    - 14.9.5 Voltage Gain of the Complete Amplifier 1004
    - 14.9.6 The 741 Output Stage 1008
    - 14.9.7 Output Resistance 1010
    - 14.9.8 Short-Circuit Protection 1010
    - 14.9.9 Summary of the µA741 Operational Amplifier Characteristics 1010

#### 13.1.11 dc Analysis of the MOSFET Differential Amplifier 881

- 13.1.12 Differential-Mode Input Signals 884
- 13.1.13 Small-Signal Transfer Characteristic for the MOS Differential Amplifier 885
- 13.1.14 Common-Mode Input Signals 885
- 13.1.15 Model for Differential Pairs 886
- Evolution to Basic Operational Amplifiers 890 13.2
  - 13.2.1 A Two-Stage Prototype for an **Operational Amplifier 891**
  - 13.2.2 Improving the Op Amp Voltage Gain 896
  - 13.2.3 Darlington Pairs 897
  - 13.2.4 Output Resistance Reduction 898
  - 13.2.5 A CMOS Operational Amplifier Prototype 902
  - 13.2.6 BiCMOS Amplifiers 904
  - 13.2.7 All Transistor Implementations 904
- 13.3 Output Stages 906
  - 13.3.1 The Source Follower—a Class-A Output Stage 906
    - 13.3.2 Efficiency of Class-A Amplifiers 907
    - 13.3.3 Class-B Push-Pull Output Stage 908
    - 13.3.4 Class-AB Amplifiers 910
    - 13.3.5 Class-AB Output Stages for **Operational Amplifiers** 911
    - 13.3.6 Short-Circuit Protection 911
    - 13.3.7 Transformer Coupling 913
- Electronic Current Sources 916 13.4 13.4.1 Single-Transistor Current
  - Sources 917 13.4.2 Figure of Merit for Current Sources 917
  - 13.4.3 Higher Output Resistance Sources 918
  - 13.4.4 Current Source Design Examples 919 Summary 927 Key Terms 928 References 928 Additional Reading 929

Problems 929

#### **CHAPTER 14**

## ANALOG INTEGRATED CIRCUIT DESIGN **TECHNIQUES** 946

- 14.1 Circuit Element Matching 947
- 14.2 Current Mirrors 948
  - 14.2.1 dc Analysis of the MOS Transistor Current Mirror 949
  - 14.2.2 Changing the MOS Mirror Ratio 951
  - 14.2.3 dc Analysis of the Bipolar Transistor Current Mirror 952

14.10 The Gilbert Analog Multiplier 1011 Summary 1013 Key Terms 1014 References 1015 Additional Readings 1015 Problems 1015

#### **CHAPTER 15**

## TRANSISTOR FEEDBACK AMPLIFIERS AND OSCILLATORS 1030

15.1 Basic Foodback System Poview 1031

13.1	Dusici	
	15.1.1	Closed-Loop Gain 1031
	15.1.2	Closed-Loop Impedances 1032
	15.1.3	Feedback Effects 1032
15.2	Feedb	ack Amplifier Analysis at Midband 1034
	15.2.1	Closed-Loop Gain 1034
	15.2.2	Input Resistance 1035
	15.2.3	Output Resistance 1035
	15.2.4	Offset Voltage Calculation 1036
15.3	Feedb	ack Amplifier Circuit Examples 1037
	15.3.1	Series-Shunt Feedback—Voltage
		Amplifiers 1037
	15.3.2	Differential Input Series-Shunt Voltage
		Amplifier 1042
	15.3.3	Shunt-Shunt Feedback—Transresistance
		Amplifiers 1045
	15.3.4	Series-Series Feedback—
		Transconductance Amplifiers 1051
	15.3.5	Shunt-Series Feedback—Current
		Amplifiers 1054
15.4	Review	of Feedback Amplifier Stability 1057
	15.4.1	Closed-Loop Response of the
		Uncompensated Amplifier 1058
	15.4.2	Phase Margin 1059
	15.4.3	Higher-Order Effects 1063
	15.4.4	Response of the Compensated
		Amplifier 1064
	15.4.5	Small-Signal Limitations 1066
15.5	Single	Pole Operational Amplifier
	Compe	ensation 1066
	15.5.1	Three-Stage Op-Amp Analysis 1067
	15.5.2	Transmission Zeros in FET Op
		Amps 1069
	15.5.3	Bipolar Amplifier Compensation 1070
	15.5.4	Slew Rate of the Operational
		Amplifier 1071
	15.5.5	Relationships between Slew
		Rate and Gain-Bandwidth
		Product 1072
15.6	High-F	requency Oscillators 1081
	15.6.1	The Colpitts Oscillator 1082
	15.6.2	The Hartley Oscillator 1083

- 15.6.3 Amplitude Stabilization In *LC* Oscillators 1084
- 15.6.4 Negative Resistance in Oscillators 1084
- 15.6.5 Negative  $G_m$  Oscillator 1085
- 15.6.6 Crystal Oscillators 1087
- 15.6.7 Ring Oscillators 1090
- 15.6.8 Positive Feedback and Latchup 1091 *Summary 1094*

Key Terms 1096

Additional Readings 1096

Problems 1096

## SUPPLEMENTAL CHAPTERS (E-Book Only) DIGITAL ELECTRONICS

#### CHAPTER S6

#### **INTRODUCTION TO DIGITAL ELECTRONICS** S6-3

- S6.1 Ideal Logic Gates S6-5 Logic Level Definitions and S6.2 Noise Margins S6-5 S6.2.1 Logic Voltage Levels S6-7 S6.2.2 Noise Margins S6-7 S6.2.3 Logic Gate Design Goals S6-8 S6.3 Dynamic Response of Logic Gates S6-9 S6.3.1 Rise Time and Fall Time S6-9 S6.3.2 Propagation Delay S6-10 S6.3.3 Power-Delay Product S6-10 S6.4 Review of Boolean Algebra S6-11 S6.5 NMOS Logic Design S6-13 S6.5.1 NMOS Inverter with Resistive Load S6-14 S6.5.2 Design of the W/L Ratio of  $M_s$  S6-15 S6.5.3 Load Resistor Design S6-16 S6.5.4 Load-Line Visualization S6-16 S6.5.5 On-Resistance of the Switching Device S6-18 S6.5.6 Noise Margin Analysis S6-19 S6.5.7 Calculation of  $V_{\mu}$  and  $V_{OH}$  S6-19 S6.5.8 Calculation of  $V_{IH}$  and  $V_{OL}$  S6-20 S6.5.9 Resistor Load Inverter Noise Margins S6-20 S6.5.10 Load Resistor Problems S6-21 S6.6 Transistor Alternatives to the Load Resistor S6-22 S6.6.1 The NMOS Saturated Load Inverter S6-23 S6.6.2 NMOS Inverter with a Linear Load Device S6-31 S6.6.3 NMOS Inverter with a Depletion-Mode Load S6-32 S6.7 NMOS Inverter Summary and Comparison S6-35 S6.8 Impact of Velocity Saturation on Static
  - Inverter Design S6-36

- S6.8.1 Switching Transistor Design S6-36
- S6.8.2 Load Transistor Design S6-36
- S6.8.3 Velocity Saturation Impact Summary S6-37
- S6.9 NMOS NAND and NOR Gates S6-37
  - S6.9.1 NOR Gates S6-38
  - S6.9.2 NAND Gates S6-39
  - S6.9.3 NOR and NAND Gate Layouts in NMOS Depletion-Mode Technology S6-40
- S6.10 Complex NMOS Logic Design S6-41
- S6.11 Power Dissipation S6-46
  - S6.11.1 Static Power Dissipation S6-46
  - S6.11.2 Dynamic Power Dissipation S6-47
  - S6.11.3 Power Scaling in MOS Logic Gates S6-48
- S6.12 Dynamic Behavior of MOS Logic Gates S6-49
  - S6.12.1 Capacitances in Logic Circuits S6-50
  - S6.12.2 Dynamic Response of the NMOS Inverter with a Resistive Load S6-51
  - S6.12.3 Comparison of NMOS Inverter Delays S6-56
  - S6.12.4 Impact of Velocity Saturation on Inverter Delays S6-57
  - S6.12.5 Scaling Based upon Reference Circuit Simulation S6-57
  - S6.12.6 Ring Oscillator Measurement of Intrinsic Gate Delay S6-58
  - S6.12.7 Unloaded Inverter Delay S6-58
- S6.13 PMOS Logic S6-61 S6.13.1 PMOS Inverters S6-61 S6.13.2 NOR and NAND Gates S6-63 Summary S6-64 Key Terms S6-66 References S6-67 Additional Reading S6-67 Problems S6-67

#### CHAPTER S7

## COMPLEMENTARY MOS (CMOS) LOGIC DESIGN S7-1

S7.1 CMOS Inverter Technology S7-2 S7.1.1 CMOS Inverter Layout S7-4
S7.2 Static Characteristics of the CMOS Inverter S7-4 S7.2.1 CMOS Voltage Transfer Characteristics S7-5 S7.2.2 Noise Margins for the CMOS Inverter S7-7
S7.3 Dynamic Behavior of the CMOS Inverter S7-9 S7.3.1 Propagation Delay Estimate S7-9 S7.3.2 Rise and Fall Times S7-11 S7.3.3 Performance Scaling S7-11

- S7.3.4 Impact of Velocity Saturation on CMOS Inverter Delays S7-13
- S7.3.5 Delay of Cascaded Inverters S7-14
- S7.4 Power Dissipation and Power
  - Delay Product in CMOS S7-15
    - S7.4.1 Static Power Dissipation S7-15
    - S7.4.2 Dynamic Power Dissipation S7-16
  - S7.4.3 Power-Delay Product S7-17
- S7.5
   CMOS NOR and NAND Gates S7-19

   S7.5.1
   CMOS NOR Gate S7-19

   S7.5.2
   CMOS NAND Gates S7-22
- S7.6 Design of Complex Gates in CMOS S7-23
- S7.7 Minimum Size Gate Design and Performance S7-29
- S7.8 Cascade Buffers S7-31
  S7.8.1 Cascade Buffer Delay Model S7-31
  S7.8.2 Optimum Number of Stages S7-32
- S7.9 The CMOS Transmission Gate S7-34
- S7.10 Bistable Circuits S7-35 S7.10.1 The Bistable Latch S7-35
  - S7.10.2 RS Flip-Flop S7-38
  - S7.10.3 The D-Latch Using Transmission Gates S7-39
  - S7.10.4 A Master-Slave D Flip-Flop S7-39
- S7.11 CMOS Latchup S7-39 Summary S7-44 Key Terms S7-45 References S7-46 Problems S7-46

## CHAPTER S8

## MOS MEMORY CIRCUITS S8-1

- S8.1 Random-Access Memory (RAM) S8-2 S8.1.1 Random-Access Memory (RAM)
  - Architecture S8-2 S8.1.2 A 256-Mb Memory Chip S8-3
- S8.2 Static Memory Cells S8-4
  - S8.2.1 Memory Cell Isolation and Access—The 6-T Cell S8-4
    - S8.2.2 The Read Operation S8-5
    - S8.2.3 Writing Data into the
      - 6-T Cell S8-9
- S8.3 Dynamic Memory Cells S8-11
  - S8.3.1 The One-Transistor Cell S8-12
  - S8.3.2 Data Storage in the 1-T Cell S8-12
  - S8.3.3 Reading Data from the 1-T Cell S8-14
  - S8.3.4 The Four-Transistor Cell S8-15
- S8.4 Sense Amplifiers S8-17
  - S8.4.1 A Sense Amplifier for the 6-T Cell S8-17
  - S8.4.2 A Sense Amplifier for the 1-T Cell S8-19
  - S8.4.3 The Boosted Wordline Circuit S8-20
  - S8.4.4 Clocked CMOS Sense Amplifiers S8-21

S8.5	Address Decoders S8-23		
	S8.5.1 NOR Decoder S8-23		
	S8.5.2 NAND Decoder S8-23		
	S8.5.3 Pass-Transistor Column Decoder S8-25		
S8.6	Read-Only Memory (ROM) S8-26		
S8.7	Flash Memory S8-29		
	S8.7.1 Floating Gate Technology S8-29		
	S8.7.2 NOR Circuit Implementations S8-32		
	S8.7.3 NAND Implementations S8-32		
Summary S8-34			
	Key Terms S8-35		
	References S8-36		
	Additional Readings S8-36		
	Problems S8-36		

#### CHAPTER S9

#### BIPOLAR LOGIC CIRCUITS S9-1

S9.1	The Cu	rrent Switch (Emitter-Coupled Pair) S9-2			
	S9.1.1	Mathematical Model for Static Behavior			
		of the Current Switch S9-2			
	S9.1.2	Current Switch Analysis for $v_l >$			
		V <sub>REF</sub> S9-4			
	S9.1.3	Current Switch Analysis for $v_l <$			
		V <sub>REF</sub> S9-5			
S9.2	The Em	itter-Coupled Logic (ECL) Gate S9-5			
	S9.2.1	ECL Gate with $v_I = V_H$ S9-6			
	S9.2.2	ECL Gate with $v_I = V_L$ S9-7			
	S9.2.3	Input Current of the ECL Gate S9-7			
	S9.2.4	ECL Summary S9-7			
S9.3	Noise Margin Analysis for the ECL Gate S9-8				
	S9.3.1	$V_{IL}, V_{OH}, V_{IH}$ , and $V_{OL}$ S9-8			
	S9.3.2	Noise Margins S9-9			
S9.4	Current	Source Implementation S9-10			
S9.5	The EC	L OR-NOR Gate S9-12			
S9.6	59.6 The Emitter Follower S9-14				
	S9.6.1	Emitter Follower with a Load			
		Resistor S9-15			
S9.7	"Emitte	r Dotting" or "Wired-OR" Logic S9-17			
	S9.7.1	Parallel Connection of Emitter-Follower			
		Outputs S9-18			
	S9.7.2	The Wired-OR Logic Function S9-18			
S9.8	ECL Power-Delay Characteristics S9-18				
	S9.8.1	Power Dissipation S9-18			
	S9.8.2	Gate Delay S9-20			
	S9.8.3	Power-Delay Product S9-21			
S9.9	Positive	ECL (PECL) S9-22			
S9.10	Current	-Mode Logic S9-23			
	S9.10.1	CML Logic Gates S9-23			
	S9.10.2	CML Logic Levels S9-24			

- S9.10.3 V<sub>EE</sub> Supply Voltage S9-24
- S9.10.4 Higher-Level CML S9-25
- S9.10.5 CML Power Reduction S9-26
- S9.10.6 Source-Coupled FET Logic (SCFL) S9-26
- S9.11 The Saturating Bipolar Inverter S9-29
  - S9.11.1 Static Inverter Characteristics S9-29
  - S9.11.2 Saturation Voltage of the Bipolar Transistor S9-30
  - S9.11.3 Load-Line Visualization S9-32
  - S9.11.4 Switching Characteristics of the Saturated BJT S9-33
- S9.12 Transistor-Transistor Logic S9-36
  - S9.12.1 TTL Inverter Analysis for  $v_l = V_L$  S9-36
    - S9.12.2 Analysis for  $v_l = V_H$  S9-38
    - S9.12.3 Power Consumption S9-39
    - S9.12.4 TTL Propagation Delay and Power-Delay Product S9-39
    - S9.12.5 TTL Voltage Transfer Characteristic and Noise Margins S9-40
    - S9.12.6 Fanout Limitations of Standard TTL S9-40
- S9.13 Logic Functions in TTL S9-40
   S9.13.1 Multi-Emitter Input Transistors S9-41
   S9.13.2 TTL NAND Gates S9-41
   S9.13.3 Input Clamping Diodes S9-42
- S9.14 Schottky-Clamped TTL S9-43
- S9.15 Comparison of the Power-Delay Products of ECL and TTL S9-44
- S9.16 BiCMOS Logic S9-44 S9.16.1 BiCMOS Buffers S9-45 S9.16.2 BiNMOS Inverters S9-47 S9.16.3 BiCMOS Logic Gates S9-48 Summary S9-49 Key Terms S9-50 Reference S9-51 Additional Reading S9-51 Problems S9-51

#### **APPENDICES**

- A Standard Discrete Component Values 1109
- B Solid-State Device Models and SPICE Simulation Parameters 1112
- C Two-Port Review 1117
- D Physical Constants and Transistor Model Summary 1120

Index 1123

# **Electronics in Action**

# Chapter 1

Cellular Phone Evolution 8 Player Characteristics 20 A Familiar Electronic System—The Cellular Phone 25

# Chapter 2

CCD Cameras 63 Lab-on-a-chip 66

# Chapter 3

The PTAT Voltage and Electronic Thermometry 89 The SPICE Circuit Simulation Program An IEEE Global History Network Milestone 94 AM Demodulation 122 Power Cubes and Cell Phone Chargers 128 Solar Energy 132

# Chapter 4

The Bipolar Transistor PTAT Cell 169 Optical Isolators 174

# Chapter 5

MOS Memory 237 CMOS Camera on a Chip 245 FinFET Technologies 263 Thermal Inkjet Printers 281

# Chapter 6

Player Characteristics 320 Laptop Computer Touchpad 327

# Chapter 7

Direct Measurement of Intrinsic Gain ( $\mu_f = g_m r_o$ ) 390 Electric Guitar Distortion Circuits 408

# **Chapter 8**

Noise in Electronic Circuits 454 Revisiting the CMOS Imager Circuitry 465 Humbucker Guitar Pickup 521

# Chapter 9

Graphic Equalizer 584 RF Network Transformations 612 Noise Factor, Noise Figure, and Minimum Detectable Signal 621 Passive Diode Mixers 627 The Jones Mixer 631

# Chapter 10

Fiber Optic Receiver 656 Digital-to-Analog Converter (DAC) Circuits 663 Dual-Ramp or Dual-Slope Analog-to-Digital Converters (ADCs) 672

# Chapter 11

Three-Terminal IC Voltage Regulators 706 Fiber Optic Receiver 712 Low Voltage Differential Signaling (LVDS) 735 Offset Voltage, Bias Current, and CMRR Measurement 742

# Chapter 12

CMOS Navigation Chip Prototype for Optical Mice 797 Band-Pass Filters in BFSK Reception 806 Body Sensor Networks 813 Sample-and-Hold Circuits 835 An AC Voltmeter 843 Numerically Controlled Oscillators and Direct Digital Synthesis 848 Function Generators 850

# **Chapter 13**

Limiting Amplifiers for Optical Communications 887 Class-D Audio Amplifiers 915 Medical Ultrasound Imaging 925

# Chapter 14

The PTAT Voltage 962  $G_m$ -C Integrated Filters 988

# **Chapter 15**

A Transresistance Amplifier Implementation 1050 Fully Differential Design 1057 A MEMS Oscillator 1092

# Supplemental Chapters (E-Book Only)

# **Chapter S6**

Silicon Art S6-42 MEMS-Based Computer Projector S6-62

# Chapter S7

CMOS—The Enabler for Handheld Technologies S7-18 AND-OR-INVERT Gates in a Standard Cell Library S7-30 A Second Look at Noise Margins S7-36 Advanced CMOS Technologies S7-42

# **Chapter S8**

Field Programmable Gate Arrays (FPGAs) S8-11 Flash Memory Growth S8-31

# **Chapter S9**

Electronics for Optical Communications S9-27

# PREFACE

Through study of this text, the reader will develop a comprehensive understanding of the basic techniques of modern analog electronic circuit design. Even though most readers may not ultimately be engaged in the design of integrated circuits (ICs) themselves, a thorough understanding of the internal circuit structure of ICs is pre-requisite to avoiding many pitfalls that prevent the effective and reliable application of integrated circuits in system design.

The writing integrates the authors' extensive industrial backgrounds in precision analog and digital design with their many years of experience in the classroom. A broad spectrum of topics is included, and material can easily be selected to satisfy either a two-semester or threequarter sequence in electronics.

In order to reduce the length, cost, and weight of the text, the digital electronics chapters from earlier editions have been included as supplemental chapters in the e-book version of the textbook that is available in Connect.

# **IN THIS EDITION**

This edition continues to update the material to achieve improved readability and accessibility to the student. In addition to general material updates, a number of specific changes have been included.

The five chapters of Part One have been reorganized to improve material flow. Chapter 4, "Bipolar Junction Transistors" now follows directly after the diode chapter, and "Field-Effect Transistors" becomes Chapter 5. A new low-power, low-voltage, and weak inversion thread begins in Part One. Chapter 5 specifically introduces the behavior and modeling of the FET in the moderate and weak inversion regions, and this thread continues throughout Parts Two and Three.

Other important elements include:

At least 30 percent revised or new problems.

Updated PowerPoint slides are available from the authors at www.JaegerBlalock.com or Connect.

- Popular digital features can be found through McGraw Hill Education's Connect platform, details of which can be found later in the Preface.
- The structured problem-solving approach continues throughout the examples.
- Popular Electronics in Action features have been revised and expanded to include IEEE Societies, Historical Development of SPICE, Body Sensor Networks, Jones Mixer, Advanced CMOS Technology, Fully Differential Amplifiers, and DACs and ADCs to name a few.

Chapter openers enhance the reader's understanding of historical developments in electronics. Design notes highlight important ideas that the circuit designer should remember. The Internet is viewed as an integral extension of the text.

Features of the book are outlined below.

- The Structured Problem-Solving Approach is used throughout the examples.
- Electronics in Action features in each chapter.
- Chapter openers highlighting developments in the field of electronics.
- Design Notes and emphasis on practical circuit design.
- Broad use of SPICE throughout the text, examples, and problems.
- Integrated treatment of device modeling in SPICE.
- Numerous Exercises, Examples, and Design Examples.

Large number of problems.

Integrated web materials.

Part Two consists of Chapters 6 through 9 and begins with an overview of general amplifier characteristics, followed by small-signal modeling of transistors and comprehensive discussion of classical single-stage amplifier design including frequency response. The first three chapters of Part Three focus on ideal and nonideal operational amplifiers, including feedback and amplifier stability. The last three chapters concentrate on analog integrated circuit design and design techniques.

# DESIGN

Design remains a difficult issue in educating engineers. The use of the well-defined problem-solving methodology presented in this text can significantly enhance the students ability to understand issues related to design. The design examples assist in building an understanding of the design process.

Methods for making design estimates and decisions are stressed throughout the analog portion of the text. Expressions for amplifier behavior are simplified beyond the standard hybrid-pi model expressions whenever appropriate. For example, the expression for the voltage gain of an amplifier in most texts is simply written as  $|A_v| = g_m R_L$ , which tends to hide the power supply voltage as the fundamental design variable. Rewriting this expression in approximate form as  $g_m R_L \cong 10 V_{CC}$  for the BJT, or  $g_m R_L \cong V_{DD}$  for the FET, explicitly displays the dependence of amplifier design on the choice of power supply voltage and provides a simple first-order design estimate for the voltage gain of the common-emitter and common-source amplifiers. The gain advantage of the BJT stage is also clear. These approximation techniques and methods for performance estimation are included as often as possible. Comparisons and design tradeoffs between the properties of BJTs and FETs are included throughout Part Three.

Worst-case and Monte-Carlo analysis techniques are introduced at the end of the first chapter. These are not topics traditionally included in undergraduate courses. However, the ability to design circuits in the face of wide component tolerances and variations is a key component of electronic circuit design, and the design of circuits using standard components and tolerance assignment are discussed in examples and included in many problems.

## PROBLEMS AND INSTRUCTOR SUPPORT

Specific design problems, computer problems, and SPICE problems are included at the end of each chapter. Design problems are indicated by  $\bigcirc$ , computer problems are indicated by  $\bigcirc$ . The problems are keyed to the topics in the text with the more difficult or time-consuming problems indicated by \* and \*\*. An Instructor's Manual containing solutions to all the problems is available to instructors from the authors. In addition, the graphs and figures are available as

PowerPoint files and can be retrieved on the Instructor's Resources section of Connect, along with various web materials referenced in the textbook for students. Instructor notes are available as PowerPoint slides.

To access the Instructor Resources through Connect, you must first contact your McGraw Hill Learning Technology Representative to obtain a password. If you do not know your McGraw Hill representative, please go to www.mhhe.com/rep, to find your representative.

Once you have your password, please go to connect. mheducation.com, and log in. Click on the course for which you are using *Microelectronic Circuit Design*, *6e*. If you have not added a course, click "Add Course," and select "Engineering-Electrical and Computer" from the dropdown menu. Select this textbook and click "Next."

Once you have added the course, click on the "Library" link, and then click "Instructor Resources."

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We want to thank the large number of people who have had an impact on the material in this text and on its preparation. Our students have helped immensely in polishing the manuscript and have managed to survive the many revisions of the manuscript. Our department heads, J. D. Irwin and Mark Nelms of Auburn University, N. Sidiropoulos of the University of Virginia and Gregory Peterson of the University of Tennessee, have always been highly supportive of faculty efforts to develop improved texts.

We want to thank all reviewers, including the following:

Stanley Burns	University of Minnesota, Duluth
Numan Dogan	North Carolina Agricultural and Technical State University
Melinda Holtzman	Portland State University
Bradley Jackson	California State University, Northridge
Serhiy Levkov	New Jersey Institute of Technology
Jayne Wu (Jie Wu)	The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

We are also thankful for inspiration from the classic text *Applied Electronics* by J. F. Pierce and T. J. Paulus. Professor Travis Blalock Learned Electronics from Professor Pierce many years ago and still appreciates many of the analytical techniques employed in their long out-of-print text.

Those familiar with Professor Don Pederson's "Yellow Peril" will see its influence throughout this text. Shortly after Professor Jaeger became Professor Art Brodersen's student at the University of Florida, he was fortunate to be given a copy of Pederson's book to study from cover to cover.

Finally, we want to thank the team at McGraw Hill, including Theresa Collins and Erin Kamm, Product Developers; Jane Mohr, Content Project Manager; Lisa Granger, Marketing Manager; and Sadika Rehman, Full-Service Project Manager.

In developing this text, we have attempted to integrate our industrial backgrounds in analog and digital design with many years of experience in the classroom. We hope we have at least succeeded to some extent. Constructive suggestions and comments will be appreciated.

Richard C. Jaeger Auburn University

Travis N. Blalock University of Virginia

Benjamin J. Blalock University of Tennessee, Knoxville

# **CHAPTER-BY-CHAPTER SUMMARY**

# PART ONE—SOLID-STATE ELECTRONICS AND DEVICES

Chapter 1 provides a historical perspective on the field of electronics beginning with vacuum tubes and advancing to Tera-scale integration and its impact on the global economy. Chapter 1 also provides a classification of electronic signals and a review of some important tools from network analysis, including the ideal operational amplifier. Because developing a good problem-solving methodology is of such import to an engineer's career, the comprehensive Structured Problem Solving Approach is used to help students develop their problem solving skills. The structured approach is discussed in detail in the first chapter and used in the subsequent examples in the text. Component tolerances and variations play an extremely important role in practical circuit design, and Chapter 1 closes with introductions to tolerances, temperature coefficients, worst-case design, and Monte Carlo analysis.

**Chapter 2** discusses semiconductor materials including the covalent-bond and energy-band models of semiconductors. The chapter includes material on intrinsic carrier density, electron and hole populations, *n*- and *p*-type material, and impurity doping. Mobility, resistivity, and carrier transport by both drift and diffusion are included as topics. Velocity saturation is discussed, as well as an introductory discussion of micro-electronic fabrication.

**Chapter 3** introduces the structure and *i-v* characteristics of solid-state diodes. Discussions of Schottky diodes, variable capacitance diodes, photo-diodes, solar cells, and LEDs are also included. This chapter introduces the concepts of device modeling and the use of different levels of modeling to achieve various approximations to reality. The SPICE model for the diode is discussed. The concepts of bias, operating point, and load-line are all introduced, and iterative mathematical solutions are also used to find the operating point with MATLAB and spreadsheets. Diode applications in rectifiers are discussed in detail and a discussion of the dynamic switching characteristics of diodes is also presented.

**Chapter 4** introduces the bipolar junction transistor and presents a heuristic development of the transport (simplified Gummel-Poon) model of the BJT based upon superposition. The various regions of operation are discussed in detail. Common-emitter and common-base current gains are defined, and base transit-time, diffusion capacitance, and cutoff frequency are all discussed. Bipolar technology and physical structure are introduced. The four-resistor bias circuit is discussed in detail. The SPICE model for the BJT and SPICE model parameters are also discussed in Chapter 4.

Chapter 5 discusses MOS and junction field-effect transistors, starting with a qualitative description of the MOS capacitor. Models are developed for the FET i-v characteristics, and a complete discussion of the regions of operation of the device is presented. Body effect is included. MOS transistor performance limits-including scaling, cut-off frequency, and subthreshold conductionare discussed as well as basic A-based layout methods. Biasing circuits and load-line analysis are presented. The concept of velocity saturation from Chapter 2 is reinforced with the addition of the unified MOS model of Rabaey and Chandrakasan to Chapter 5. FET SPICE models and model parameters are discussed in Chapter 5. In the 6th edition, the discussion of moderate and weak inversion is expanded, and a low voltage/weak inversion thread continues through the rest of the text.

# PART TWO—ANALOG ELECTRONICS

**Chapter 6** provides a succinct introduction to analog electronics. The concepts of voltage gain, current gain, and power gain are developed using two-port circuit models. Much care has been taken to be consistent in the use of the notation that defines these quantities as well as in the use of dc, ac, and total signal notation throughout the book. Bode plots are reviewed and amplifiers are classified by frequency response. MATLAB is utilized as a tool for producing Bode plots. SPICE simulation using built-in SPICE models is introduced.

**Chapter 7** begins the general discussion of linear amplification using the BJT and FET as C-E and C-S amplifiers. Biasing for linear operation and the concept of small-signal modeling are both introduced, and small-signal models of the diode, BJT, and FET are all developed. The limits for small-signal operation are all carefully defined. The use of coupling and bypass capacitors and inductors to separate the ac and dc designs is explored. The important  $10V_{CC}$  and  $V_{DD}$  design estimates for the voltage gain of the C-E and C-S amplifiers are introduced, and the role of the transistor's intrinsic gain in bounding circuit performance is discussed. The role of Q-point design on power dissipation and signal range is also introduced.

**Chapter 8** proceeds with an in-depth comparison of the characteristics of single-transistor amplifiers, including small-signal amplitude limitations. Appropriate points for signal injection and extraction are identified, and amplifiers are classified as inverting amplifiers (C-E, C-S), noninverting amplifiers (C-B, C-G), and followers (C-C, C-D). The treatment of MOS and bipolar devices is merged from Chapter 8 on, and design tradeoffs between the use of the BJT and the FET in amplifier circuits is an important thread that is followed through all of Part Two. A detailed discussion of the design of coupling and bypass capacitors and the role of these capacitors in controlling the low frequency response of amplifiers appears in this chapter.

**Chapter 9** discusses the frequency response of analog circuits. The behavior of each of the three categories of single-stage amplifiers (C-E/C-S, C-B/C-G, and C-C/C-D) is discussed in detail, and BJT behavior is contrasted with that of the FET. The frequency response of the transistor is discussed, and the high frequency, small-signal models are developed for both the BJT and FET. Miller multiplication is used to obtain estimates of the lower and upper cutoff frequencies of complex multistage amplifiers. Gain-bandwidth products and gain-bandwidth tradeoffs in design are discussed. Cascode amplifier frequency response, and tuned amplifiers are included in this chapter. The important short-circuit and open-circuit time-constant techniques for estimating the dominant low- and high-frequency poles are covered in detail.

Because of the renaissance and pervasive use of RF circuits, Chapter 9 includes an introductory section on RF amplifiers, including shunt peaked and tuned amplifiers. A discussion of gate resistance in FETs mirrors that of base resistance in the BJT. The discussion of the impact of the frequency-dependent current gain of the FET includes both the input and output impedances of the source follower configuration. Material on mixers includes passive and active single- and double-balanced mixers and the widely used Jones Mixer.

# PART THREE—OPERATIONAL AMPLIFIERS AND FEEDBACK

**Chapter 10** reviews classic ideal operational amplifier circuits that include the inverting, noninverting, summing, and difference amplifiers as well as the integrator, differentiator, and low-pass and high-pass filters.

Chapter 11 focuses on a comprehensive discussion of the characteristics and limitations of real operational amplifiers, including the effects of finite gain and input resistance, nonzero output resistance, input offset voltage, input bias and offset currents, output voltage and current limits, finite bandwidth, and common-mode rejection. A consistent loop-gain analysis approach is used to study the four classic feedback configurations, and Blackman's theorem is utilized to find input and output resistances of closed-loop amplifiers. The important successive voltage and current injection technique for finding loop-gain is included in Chapter 11. Stability of first-, second-, and third-order systems is discussed, and the concepts of phase and gain margin are introduced. Relationships between Nyquist and Bode techniques are explicitly discussed. A section concerning the relationship between phase margin and time domain response is included. The macro model concept is introduced and the discussion of SPICE simulation of op-amp circuits using various levels of models continues in Chapter 11.

**Chapter 12** covers a wide range of operational amplifier applications that include multistage amplifiers, the instrumentation amplifier, and continuous time and discrete time active filters. Cascade amplifiers are investigated including a discussion of the bandwidth of multistage amplifiers. An introduction to D/A and A/D converters appears in this chapter. The Barkhausen criterion for oscillation are presented and followed by a discussion of op-amp-based sinusoidal oscillators. High frequency oscillators are discussed in Chapter 15. Nonlinear circuits applications including rectifiers, Schmitt triggers, and multivibrators conclude the material in Chapter 12.

**Chapter 13** explores the design of multistage direct coupled amplifiers. An evolutionary approach to multistage op amp design is used. MOS and bipolar differential amplifiers are first introduced. Subsequent addition of a second gain stage and then an output stage convert the differential amplifiers into simple op amps. Class A, B, and AB operations are defined. Electronic current sources are designed and used for biasing of the basic operational amplifiers. Discussion of important FET-BJT design tradeoffs are included wherever appropriate. Additional low voltage/weak inversion problems have been added to Chapters 13, 14, and 15. **Chapter 14** introduces techniques that are of particular import in integrated circuit design. A variety of current mirror circuits are introduced and applied in bias circuits and as active loads in operational amplifiers. A wealth of circuits and analog design techniques are explored through the detailed analysis of the classic 741 operational amplifier. The Brokaw bandgap reference and Gilbert analog multiplier as well as the MOS weak inversion reference are introduced in Chapter 14.

**Chapter 15** presents detailed examples of feedback as applied to transistor amplifier circuits. The loop-gain analysis approach introduced in Chapter 11 is used to find the closed-loop gain of various amplifiers, and Blackman's theorem is utilized to find input and output resistances of closed-loop amplifiers.

Amplifier stability is also discussed in Chapter 15, and Nyquist diagrams and Bode plots (with MATLAB) are used to explore the phase and gain margin of amplifiers. Basic single-pole op-amp compensation is discussed, and the unity gain-bandwidth product is related to amplifier slew rate. Design of op-amp compensation to achieve a desired phase margin is presented. The discussion of transistor oscillator circuits includes the classic Colpitts, Hartley, and negative  $G_m$  configurations. Crystal oscillators, ring oscillators and a discussion of positive feedback in flip-flops are also included.

The Digital Electronics chapters from the fifth edition are now included as supplemental chapters in the e-book version of this text, which is available to users of this edition through Connect.

Four Appendices include tables of standard component values (Appendix A), summary of the device models and sample SPICE parameters (Appendix B), review of two-port networks (Appendix C), and Physical Constants and Transistor Model Summary (Appendix D). Data sheets for representative solid-state devices and operational amplifiers are available via the Internet. A table in Appendix C helps relate various two-port parameters that often appear in specification sheets to the FET and BJT model parameters that appear in the text.





# Instructors: Student Success Starts with You

# Tools to enhance your unique voice

Want to build your own course? No problem. Prefer to use an OLC-aligned, prebuilt course? Easy. Want to make changes throughout the semester? Sure. And you'll save time with Connect's auto-grading too.





Laptop: McGraw Hill; Woman/dog: George Doyle/Getty Images

# Study made personal

Incorporate adaptive study resources like SmartBook<sup>®</sup> 2.0 into your course and help your students be better prepared in less time. Learn more about the powerful personalized learning experience available in SmartBook 2.0 at www.mheducation.com/highered/connect/smartbook

# Affordable solutions, added value



Make technology work for you with LMS integration for single sign-on access, mobile access to the digital textbook, and reports to quickly show you how each of your students is doing. And with our Inclusive Access program you can provide all these tools at a discount to your students. Ask your McGraw Hill representative for more information.

# Solutions for your challenges



A product isn't a solution. Real solutions are affordable, reliable, and come with training and ongoing support when you need it and how you want it. Visit **www. supportateverystep.com** for videos and resources both you and your students can use throughout the semester.

Checkmark: Jobalou/Getty Images

Padlock: Jobalou/Getty Images



# Students: Get Learning that Fits You

# Effective tools for efficient studying

Connect is designed to help you be more productive with simple, flexible, intuitive tools that maximize your study time and meet your individual learning needs. Get learning that works for you with Connect.

# Study anytime, anywhere

Download the free ReadAnywhere app and access your online eBook, SmartBook 2.0, or Adaptive Learning Assignments when it's convenient, even if you're offline. And since the app automatically syncs with your Connect account, all of your work is available every time you open it. Find out more at www.mheducation.com/readanywhere "I really liked this app—it made it easy to study when you don't have your textbook in front of you."

- Jordan Cunningham, Eastern Washington University



Calendar: owattaphotos/Getty Images

# Everything you need in one place

Your Connect course has everything you need—whether reading on your digital eBook or completing assignments for class, Connect makes it easy to get your work done.

# Learning for everyone

McGraw Hill works directly with Accessibility Services Departments and faculty to meet the learning needs of all students. Please contact your Accessibility Services Office and ask them to email accessibility@mheducation.com, or visit www.mheducation.com/about/accessibility for more information.

Top: Jenner Images/Getty Images, Left: Hero Images/Getty Images, Right: Hero Images/Getty Images







# CHAPTER 3 SOLID-STATE DIODES AND DIODE CIRCUITS 73

SOLID-STATE ELECTRONICS 42

**INTRODUCTION TO ELECTRONICS 3** 

CHAPTER 1

CHAPTER 2

CHAPTER 4 **BIPOLAR JUNCTION TRANSISTORS 146** 

CHAPTER 5 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTORS 212

# PART ONE SOLID-STATE ELECTRONICS AND DEVICES





ISTUDY

# **CHAPTER 1**



# **INTRODUCTION TO ELECTRONICS**

## CHAPTER OUTLINE

- 1.1 A Brief History of Electronics: From Vacuum Tubes to Giga-Scale Integration 4
- 1.2 Classification of Electronic Signals 8
- 1.3 Notational Conventions 12
- 1.4 Problem-Solving Approach 13
- 1.5 Important Concepts from Circuit Theory 15
- 1.6 Frequency Spectrum of Electronic Signals 21
- 1.7 Amplifiers 22
- 1.8 Element Variations in Circuit Design 26
- 1.9 Numeric Precision 34

Summary 34 Key Terms 35 References 36 Additional Reading 36 Problems 37

## **CHAPTER GOALS**

- Present a brief history of electronics
- Quantify the explosive development of integrated circuit technology
- Discuss initial classification of electronic signals
- Review important notational conventions and concepts from circuit theory
- Introduce methods for including tolerances in circuit analysis
- Present the problem-solving approach used in this text

November 2022 is the 75th anniversary of the 1947 discovery of the bipolar transistor by John Bardeen and Walter Brattain at Bell Laboratories, a seminal event that marked the beginning of the semiconductor age (see Figs. 1.1 and 1.2). The invention of the transistor and the subsequent development of microelectronics have done more to shape the modern era than any other event. The transistor and microelectronics have reshaped how business is transacted, machines are designed, information moves, wars are fought, people interact, and countless other areas of our lives.

This textbook develops the basic operating principles and design techniques governing the behavior of the devices and circuits that form the backbone of much of the infrastructure of our modern world. This knowledge will enable students who aspire to design and create the next generation of this technological revolution to build



Figure 1.1 John Bardeen, William Shockley, and Walter Brattain in Brattain's laboratory in 1948. Reprinted with permission of Alcatel-Lucent USA Inc.



Figure 1.2 The first germanium bipolar transistor. Reprinted with permission of Alcatel-Lucent USA Inc.

a solid foundation for more advanced design courses. In addition, students who expect to work in some other technology area will learn material that will help them understand microelectronics, a technology that will continue to have impact on how their chosen field develops. This understanding will enable them to fully exploit microelectronics in their own technology area. Now let us return to our short history of the transistor.

After the discovery of the transistor, it was but a few months until William Shockley developed a theory that described the operation of the bipolar junction transistor. 4

Only 10 years later, in 1956, Bardeen, Brattain, and Shockley received the Nobel Prize in physics for the discovery of the transistor.

In June 1948 Bell Laboratories held a major press conference to announce the discovery. In 1952 Bell Laboratories, operating under legal consent decrees, made licenses for the transistor available for the modest fee of \$25,000 plus future royalty payments. About this time, Gordon Teal, another member of the solid-state group, left Bell Laboratories to work on the transistor at Geophysical Services, Inc., which subsequently became Texas Instruments (TI). There he made the first silicon transistors, and TI marketed the first all-transistor radio. Another early licensee of the transistor was Tokyo Tsushin Kogyo, which became the Sony Company in 1955. Sony subsequently sold a transistor radio with a marketing strategy based on the idea that everyone could now have a personal radio; thus was launched the consumer market for transistors. A very interesting account of these and other developments can be found in [1, 2] and their references.

Activity in electronics began more than a century ago with the first radio transmissions in 1895 by Marconi, and these experiments were followed after only a few years by the invention of the first electronic amplifying device, the triode vacuum tube. In this period, electronics—loosely defined as the design and application of electron devices—has had such a significant impact on our lives that we often overlook just how pervasive electronics has really become. One measure of the degree of this impact can be found in the gross domestic product (GDP) of the world. In 2020 the world GDP was approximately U.S. \$90 trillion, and of this total more than 15 percent was directly traceable to electronics [3–5].

We commonly encounter electronics in the form of cellular phones, radios, televisions, and audio equipment, but electronics can be found even in seemingly mundane appliances such as vacuum cleaners, washing machines, and refrigerators. Wherever one looks in industry, electronics is found. The corporate world obviously depends heavily on data processing systems to manage its operations. In fact, it is hard to see how the computer industry could have evolved without the use of its own products. In addition, the design process depends ever more heavily on computer-aided design (CAD) systems, and manufacturing relies on electronic systems for process control—in petroleum refining, automobile tire production, food processing, power generation, and so on.

# **1.1** A BRIEF HISTORY OF ELECTRONICS: FROM VACUUM TUBES TO GIGA-SCALE INTEGRATION

Because most of us have grown up with electronic products all around us, we often lose perspective of how far the industry has come in a relatively short time. At the beginning of the twentieth century, there were no commercial electron devices, and transistors were not invented until the late 1940s! Explosive growth was triggered by first the commercial availability of the bipolar transistor in the late 1950s, and then the realization of the integrated circuit (IC) in 1961. Since that time, signal processing using electron devices and electronic technology has become a pervasive force in our lives.

Table 1.1 lists a number of important milestones in the evolution of the field of electronics. The Age of Electronics began in the early 1900s with the invention of the first electronic two-terminal devices, called **diodes**. The **vacuum diode**, or diode **vacuum tube**, was invented by Fleming in 1904; in 1906 Pickard created a diode by forming a point contact to a silicon crystal. (Our study of electron devices begins with the introduction of the solid-state diode in Chapter 3.)

Deforest's invention of the three-element vacuum tube known as the **triode** was an extremely important milestone. The addition of a third element to a diode enabled electronic amplification to take place with good isolation between the input and output ports of the device.

TABLE 1.1

Milestones in Electronics

YEAR	EVENT			
1874	Ferdinand Braun invents the solid-state rectifier.			
1884	American Institute of Electrical Engineers (AIEE) formed			
1895	Marconi makes first radio transmissions.			
1904	Fleming invents diode vacuum tube—Age of Electronics begins.			
1906	Pickard creates solid-state point-contact diode (silicon).			
1906	Deforest invents triode vacuum tube (audion).			
1910–1911	"Reliable" tubes fabricated.			
1912	Institute of Radio Engineers (IRE) founded.			
1907-1927	First radio circuits developed from diodes and triodes.			
1920	Armstrong invents super heterodyne receiver.			
1925	TV demonstrated.			
1925	Lilienfeld files patent application on the field-effect device.			
1927-1936	Multigrid tubes developed.			
1933	Armstrong invents FM modulation.			
1935	Heil receives British patent on a field-effect device.			
1940	Radar developed during World War II-TV in limited use.			
1947	Bardeen, Brattain, and Shockley at Bell Laboratories invent bipolar transistors.			
1950	First demonstration of color TV.			
1952	Shockley describes the unipolar field-effect transistor.			
1952	Commercial production of silicon bipolar transistors begins at Texas Instruments.			
1952	Ian Ross and George Dacey demonstrate the junction field-effect transistor.			
1956	Bardeen, Brattain, and Shockley receive Nobel Prize for invention of bipolar transistors.			
1958	Integrated circuit developed simultaneously by Kilby at Texas Instruments and Noyce and Moore at Fairchild			
	Semiconductor.			
1961	First commercial digital IC available from Fairchild Semiconductor.			
1963	AIEE and IRE merge to become the Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers (IEEE)			
1967	First semiconductor RAM (64 bits) discussed at the IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC).			
1968	First commercial IC operational amplifier-the µA709-introduced by Fairchild Semiconductor.			
1970	One-transistor dynamic memory cell invented by Dennard at IBM.			
1970	Low-loss optical fiber invented.			
1971	4004 microprocessor introduced by Intel.			
1972	First 8-bit microprocessor—the 8008—introduced by Intel.			
1973	Martin Cooper demonstrated a prototype of Motorola's handheld mobile phone.			
1974	First commercial 1-kilobit memory chip developed.			
1974	8080 microprocessor introduced.			
1978	First 16-bit microprocessor developed.			
1984	Megabit memory chip introduced.			
1985	Flash memory introduced at ISSCC.			
1987	Erbium doped, laser-pumped optical fiber amplifiers demonstrated.			
1995	Experimental gigabit memory chip presented at the IEEE ISSCC.			
2000	Alterov, Kilby, and Kromer share the Nobel Prize in physics for optoelectronics, invention of the integrated			
2007	circuit, and neterostructure devices, respectively.			
2007	Fert and Grunderg snare the Nobel Prize in physics for the discovery of grant magnetoresistance.			
2009	Kao snares one-half of the 2009 Nobel Prize in physics for fiber optic communication using light with Boyle			
2010	and Smith for invention of the Charge-Coupled Device (CCD).			
2010	dimensional motorial anonhana			
2014	unnensional material graphene.			
2014	Arasari, Amano, and reaching share the model rule in physics for the invention of efficient blue light-emitting			
2018	Ten hillion transistor integrated circuit chin presented at ISSOC			
2018	Goodenough Whittingham and Voshino share the Nobel Prize in chemistry for the development of lithium ion			
2019	batteries.			

5

6

Silicon-based three-element devices now form the basis of virtually all electronic systems. Fabrication of tubes that could be used reliably in circuits followed the invention of the triode by a few years and enabled rapid circuit innovation. Amplifiers and oscillators were developed that significantly improved radio transmission and reception. Armstrong invented the super heterodyne receiver in 1920 and FM modulation in 1933. Electronics developed rapidly during World War II, with great advances in the field of radio communications and the development of radar. Although first demonstrated in 1930, television did not begin to come into widespread use until the 1950s.

An important event in electronics occurred in 1947, when John Bardeen, Walter Brattain, and William Shockley at Bell Telephone Laboratories invented the **bipolar transistor.**<sup>1</sup> Although field-effect devices had actually been conceived by Lilienfeld in 1925, Heil in 1935, and Shockley in 1952 [2], the technology to produce such devices on a commercial basis did not yet exist. Bipolar devices, however, were rapidly commercialized.

Then in 1958, the nearly simultaneous invention of the **integrated circuit (IC)** by Kilby at Texas Instruments and Noyce and Moore at Fairchild Semiconductor produced a new technology that would profoundly change our lives. The miniaturization achievable through IC technology made available complex electronic functions with high performance at low cost. The attendant characteristics of high reliability, low power, and small physical size and weight were additional important advantages.

In 2000, Jack St. Clair Kilby received a share of the Nobel Prize for the invention of the integrated circuit. In the mind of the authors, this was an exceptional event as it represented one of the first awards to an electronic technologist.

Most of us have had some experience with personal computers, and nowhere is the impact of the integrated circuit more evident than in the area of digital electronics. For example, 4-gigabit (Gb) dynamic memory chips, similar to those in Fig. 1.3(c), contain more than 4 billion transistors. A 128-Gb flash memory chip stores 2 or 3 bits per memory cell using multilevel storage techniques and has more than 17 billion transistors in the memory array alone, not counting address decoding and sensing circuitry. Creating this much memory using individual vacuum tubes [depicted in Fig. 1.3(a)] or even discrete transistors [shown in Fig. 1.3(b)] would be almost inconceivable (see Prob. 1.9).

#### Levels of Integration

The dramatic progress of integrated circuit miniaturization is shown graphically in Figs. 1.4 and 1.5. The complexities of memory chips and microprocessors have grown exponentially with time. In over four decades since 1970, the number of transistors on a microprocessor chip has increased by a factor of 10 million as depicted in Fig. 1.4. Similarly, memory density has grown by a factor of more than 10 million from a 64-bit chip in 1968 to the announcement of 32-Gb chip production in 2018.

Since the commercial introduction of the integrated circuit, these increases in density have been achieved through a continued reduction in the minimum line width, or **minimum feature size**, that can be defined on the surface of the integrated circuit (see Fig. 1.5). Today most corporate semiconductor laboratories around the world are actively working on deep submicron processes with feature sizes below 10 nm—less than one five-thousandth the diameter of a human hair.

As the miniaturization process has continued, a series of commonly used abbreviations has evolved to characterize the various levels of integration. Prior to the invention of the integrated circuit, electronic systems were implemented in discrete form. Early ICs, with fewer than

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The term **transistor** is said to have originated as a contraction of "transfer resistor," based on the voltage-controlled resistance of the characteristics of the MOS transistor.



**Figure 1.3** Comparison of (a) vacuum tubes, (b) individual transistors, (c) integrated circuits in dual-in-line packages (DIPs), and (d) ICs in surface mount packages.

Source: (a) Courtesy of ARRL Handbook for Radio Amateurs, 1992; (b, c, and d) Richard Jaeger



Figure 1.4 Microprocessor complexity versus time.

Figure 1.5 DRAM feature size versus year.

100 components, were characterized as **small-scale integration**, or **SSI**. As density increased, circuits became identified as **medium-scale integration** (**MSI**, 100–1000 components/chip), **large-scale integration** (**LSI**,  $10^3-10^4$  components/chip), and **very-large-scale integration** (**VLSI**,  $10^4-10^9$  components/chip). Today discussions focus on **giga-scale integration** (**GSI**, above  $10^9$  components/chip) and beyond.



7

# MML ELECTRONICS IN ACTION

#### **Cellular Phone Evolution**

The impact of technology scaling is ever present in our daily lives. One example appears visually in the pictures of cellular phone evolution below. Early mobile phones were often large and had to be carried in a relatively large pouch (hence the term "bag phone"). The next generation of analog phones could easily fit in your hand, but they had poor battery life caused by their analog communications technology. Implementations of fourth- and fifth-generation digital cellular technology are considerably smaller and have much longer battery life. As IC density increased, additional functions such as high-function cameras, GPS, Bluetooth, and Wifi were integrated with the digital phone.





Cell phones also represent excellent examples of the application of **mixed-signal** integrated circuits that contain both analog and digital circuitry on the same chip. ICs in the cell phone contain analog radio-frequency receiver and transmitter circuitry, analog-todigital and digital-to-analog converters, CMOS logic and memory, power conversion circuits, imaging chips, accelerometers, and more.

## **1.2** CLASSIFICATION OF ELECTRONIC SIGNALS

The signals that electronic devices are designed to process can be classified into two broad categories: analog and digital. **Analog signals** can take on a continuous range of values, and thus represent continuously varying quantities; purely **digital signals** can appear at only one of several discrete levels. Examples of these types of signals are described in more detail in the next two subsections, along with the concepts of digital-to-analog and analog-to-digital conversion, which make possible the interface between the two systems.

#### **1.2.1 DIGITAL SIGNALS**

When we speak of digital electronics, we are most often referring to electronic processing of **binary digital signals**, or signals that can take on only one of two discrete amplitude levels as illustrated in Fig. 1.6. The status of binary systems can be represented by two symbols: a logical 1 is assigned to represent one level, and a logical 0 is assigned to the second level.<sup>2</sup> The two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This assignment facilitates the use of Boolean algebra, reviewed in Chapter S6 of the eBook.

9



Figure 1.6 A time-varying binary digital signal.



Figure 1.7 (a) A continuous analog signal; (b) sampled data version of signal in (a).

logic states generally correspond to two separate voltages— $V_H$  and  $V_L$ —representing the high and low amplitude levels, and a number of voltage ranges are in common use. Although  $V_H = 5$  V and  $V_L = 0$  V represented the primary standard for many years, these have given way to lower voltage levels because of power consumption and semiconductor device limitations. Systems employing  $V_H = 3.3$ , down to 1 V or less with  $V_L = 0$  V, are now used in many types of electronics.

However, binary voltage levels can also be negative or even bipolar. One high-performance logic family called ECL uses  $V_H = -0.8$  V and  $V_L = -2.0$  V, and the early standard RS-422 and RS-232 communication links between a small computer and its peripherals used  $V_H = +12$  V and  $V_L = -12$  V. In addition, the time-varying binary signal in Fig. 1.6 could equally well represent the amplitude of a current or that of an optical signal being transmitted down a fiber in an optical digital communication system. Recent USB and similar standards returned to the use of a single positive supply voltage.

Detailed discussion of logic circuits that were included in earlier editions can now be found in Chapters S6–S9 of the e-book. These include PMOS, NMOS, and CMOS logic,<sup>3</sup> which use field-effect transistors, and the TTL and ECL families, which are based on bipolar transistors.

#### 1.2.2 ANALOG SIGNALS

Although quantities such as electronic charge and electron spin or the position of a switch are discrete, much of the physical world is really analog in nature. Our senses of vision, hearing, smell, taste, and touch are all analog processes. Analog signals directly represent variables such as temperature, humidity, pressure, light intensity, or sound—all of which may take on any value, typically within some finite range. In practice, classification of digital and analog signals is largely one of perception. If we look at a digital signal similar to the one in Fig. 1.6 with an oscilloscope, we find that it actually makes a continuous transition between the high and low levels. The signal cannot make truly abrupt transitions between two levels. Designers of high-speed digital systems soon realize that they are really dealing with analog signals. The time-varying voltage or current plotted in Fig. 1.7(a) could be the electrical representation of temperature, flow rate, or pressure versus time, or the continuous audio output from a microphone. Some analog transducers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For now, let us accept these initials as proper names without further definition. The details of each of these circuits are developed in Chapters S6–S9 of the eBook.